%

Vs

Notice of meeting of

\ 8
N CITY OF

YORK

COUNCIL

Local Development Framework Working Group

To: Councillors Reid (Chair), D'Agorne, Horton, Hyman,
Macdonald, Merrett, Simpson-Laing, Waller and
R Watson
Date: Tuesday, 6 March 2007
Time: 5.00 pm
Venue: The Guildhall
AGENDA
1. Declarations of Interest
At this point, members are asked to declare any personal or
prejudicial interests they may have in the business on this agenda.
2. Minutes (Pages 1-6)
To approve and sign the minutes of the meeting of the Local
Development Framework Working Group held on 1 February 2007.
3. Public Participation
At this point in the meeting, members of the public who have
registered their wish to speak, regarding an item on the agenda or
an issue within the remit of the Working Group, may do so. The
deadline for registering is 5.00 pm on Monday 5 March 2007.
4. City of York Housing Land Availability Assessment -

Consultation on Proposed Methodology (Pages 7 - 50)

This report seeks Members’ views on the proposed methodology
for the City of York Housing Land Availability Assessment prior to
undertaking the study.

YORKPRIDE www.york.gov.uk



City of York Local Development Framework: Planning and
Climate Change: City of York's Potential to Deliver on Sub-
Regional Renewable Energy Targets (Pages 51 - 58)

This report introduces the draft supplement to Planning Policy
Statement 1 on Planning and Climate Change and informs
Members of the new key strategic issues which this document
raises. It also advises of City of York’s potential to contribute to
sub-regional renewable energy targets through the planning
system, in advance of consultation on these matters as part of the
Local Development Framework process.

Any other business which the Chair considers urgent under
the Local Government Act 1972.

Democracy Officer:

Name: Simon Copley
Contact details:

Telephone — (01904) 551078
E-mail — simon.copley@york.gov.uk

For more information about any of the following please contact the
Democracy Officer responsible for servicing this meeting:

Contact details are set out above.

Registering to speak
Business of the meeting
Any special arrangements
Copies of reports




Page 1 Agenda ltem 2

City of York Council Minutes

MEETING LOCAL DEVELOPMENT FRAMEWORK WORKING
GROUP

DATE 1 FEBRUARY 2007

PRESENT COUNCILLORS REID (CHAIR), D'AGORNE,

HORTON, MACDONALD, MERRETT, MORLEY (AS
SUBSTITUTE FOR HYMAN), SIMPSON-LAING,
WALLER AND R WATSON

APOLOGIES COUNCILLOR HYMAN

28. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

Members were invited to declare at this point in the meeting any personal
or prejudicial interests they might have in the business on the agenda.

Councillor Simpson-Laing declared a personal non-prejudicial interest in
agenda item 5 (York Northwest Area Action Plan) as a resident of the area.

29. MINUTES

Members requested that copies of the Planning Inspectorate’s reports on
both successful and unsuccessful Core Strategies be circulated to them for
information.

RESOLVED: That the minutes of the Local Development
Framework Working Group meeting held on 4
December 2006 be approved and signed by the Chair
as a correct record.

30. PUBLIC PARTICIPATION

It was reported that there had been no registrations to speak at the
meeting under the Council’s Public Participation Scheme.

31. CITY OF YORK COUNCIL - LOCAL DEVELOPMENT SCHEME

Members received a report which advised them on the production of a
revised Local Development Scheme (LDS) for the City as required under
the Planning & Compulsory Purchase Act (2004) and presented a draft of
the LDS, attached as Annex A, for consideration prior to formal submission
to the Government Office for Yorkshire and the Humber.

The proposed LDS covered the following six key areas:

(i) Introduction — highlighting the requirements of the new system and the
authority’s current position;

(i) Programme & Contents — covering the process of adopting
development planning documents under the new planning system and



Page 2

highlighting those that the Council intends to prepare over the next
three years;

(iii) Annual Monitoring Report;

(iv)Sustainability Appraisal & Strategic Environmental Assessment;

(v) Existing Council Strategies;

(vi) Resources.

The report presented two options for consideration:

e Option 1 - To approve the LDS as drafted by officers for submission to
Government Office for Yorkshire and the Humber.

e Option 2 - To seek amendments to the LDS through the
recommendations of the Working Group or alternatively request that
officers prepare an alternative project plan.

Officers detailed a number of minor amendments to the wording of the

proposed LDS:

(i) To paragraph 1.6 to indicate that the Panel’'s Report on the emerging
Regional Spatial Strategy would be issued in March 2007;

(i) To paragraph 1.9 to reword the final sentence to read, “This document
will be used for the purposes of Development Control until such time as
it is superseded by elements of the LDF”;

(iii) To paragraph 2.7 to add a sentence to indicate that the timetable for
the emerging evidence base was detailed in Figure 2;

(iv)To paragraph 2.9 to reword it to read, “An assessment has been
undertaken to identify key risks to the programme. These are outlined
in Table 1 below along with potential mitigating actions”;

(v) To the Second Air Quality Action Plan (AQAP2) row of Table 2 to clarify
that the key aims listed related to the Second Local Transport Plan
(LTP2);

(vi) To the Economic Development Programme row of Table 2 to stipulate
that the 2006/07 version of the programme would be used instead of
the 2004/05 version and to list the priority themes as maintaining
economic success, identifying skill needs and supporting people into
employment and lifelong learning;

(viilTo Table 2 to clarify that the Older People’s Housing Strategy, the
Homelessness Strategy, the Supporting People Strategy, the Private
Sector Renewal Policy and the Empty Homes Policy all formed part of
the overall Housing Strategy;

(viii)To the second paragraph of the Statement of Community Involvement
section of Annex A to replace “Environmental Forum” with “York
Environment Forum” and “Inclusive City Reference Group” with
“Inclusive York Forum”;

(ix)To Table 7 of Annex A to indicate that the consideration of
representations on the Issues and Options document and the
preparation of a Preferred Options document would be completed by
December 2008;

(x) To Table 12 of Annex A to indicate that the date of production for the
Central Historic Core Conservation Area Appraisal would be July 2007,
for the Employment Land Review would be March 2007 and for the
Housing Land Availability Assessment would be April 2007;

(xi) To Table 12 of Annex A to reword the first sentence of the synopsis for
the SINC (Sites of Importance for Nature Conservation) Review to read,
"This study is a re-appraisal of the procedures and criteria for



Page 3

designating sites of importance for nature conservation, in line with new
guidance produced by DEFRA”.

With regards to the revised work programme for the Local Development
Framework (LDF), set out in Figure 2 of the draft LDS, some Members
expressed concerns regarding the delays in adopting key Development
Plan Documents (DPDs). Officers outlined the reasons for this revised
timetable, which included national and regional issues, additional work
commitments placed on the City Development Team, staffing problems
and a lack of clarity about how the new planning system would operate in
practice when the LDS was originally prepared.

Members noted that the Issues and Options consultation for the Key
Allocations and Proposals Map and the York Northwest Area Action Plan
was timetabled for November-December 2007 and that the formal
consultation for the City Centre Area Action Plan and the York Northwest
Area Action Plan, following submission to the Secretary of State, was
scheduled for November-December 2009. Some concern was expressed
that these consultation exercises ran into Christmas holiday periods and
officers were asked to review the timetable to investigate if the consultation
could be extended into January.

Some Members also expressed concern that the Housing Market
Assessment and Central Historic Core Conservation Area Appraisal, that
formed part of the emerging evidence base for the LDF, would not be
completed until July 2007 and that the Issues and Options consultation on
the Core Strategy and Strategic Policies would already have started by
then. Officers were asked to review the timetable to investigate if these
documents could be made available prior to the start of the consultation.

Members noted that there was a three year gap between the end of the
North Yorkshire County Structure Plan (which covered the City of York)
and the adoption of the new DPDs and expressed concern that this might
impact on the Council’s ability to control green belt development using
Local Plan policies. Officers advised that they had discussed this matter
with Government Office and submitted a request to the Regional Assembly
to save the green belt policies from the Structure Plan for use over this
period. They agreed to provide an update on this matter to a future LDF
Working Group meeting.

Members also noted that the 1996 Biodiversity Audit formed part of the
existing evidence base and expressed concern that this no longer
complied with national standards and was dated and inadequate. Officers
advised that they were currently looking into this issue and would ensure
that an updated version was provided.

RECOMMENDED: That it be recommended to the Executive:

(i) That the proposed Local Development Scheme,
attached at Annex A of the report, be approved
for formal submission to Government Office for
Yorkshire and the Humber, subject to the
following:



Page 4

a) The minor amendments recommended by
officers (as outlined above);

b) A review of the work programme to extend
consultation periods where they fall across
Christmas and to ensure that the Housing
Market Assessment and Central Historic
Core Conservation Area Appraisal were
available prior to the Issues and Options
consultation on the Core Strategy and
Strategic Policies;

c) Any changes necessary as a result of
recommendations made regarding the
York Northwest Area Action Plan (minute
32 refers);

(ii) That the making of any other necessary
changes arising from either the
recommendations of the LDF Working Group or
the Executive prior to the submission to
Government Office, be delegated to the
Director of City Strategy in consultation with the
Executive Member and Opposition
Spokesperson for City Strategy;

(i) ~ That the making of any minor changes arising
from comments made by Government Office or
the Planning Inspectorate following formal
submission, be delegated to the Director of City
Strategy in consultation with the Executive
Member and Opposition Spokesperson for City
Strategy.

REASON: (i) So that the Local Development Scheme can be
submitted to Government Office for Yorkshire
and the Humber;

(ii) So that any recommended changes can be
incorporated into the Local Development
Scheme prior to its formal submission to
Government Office;

(i)  So that any comments made by Government
Office or the Planning Inspectorate can be
incorporated into the Local Development
Scheme.

32. YORK NORTHWEST AREA ACTION PLAN

Members received a report which updated them on the progress of the
joint Area Action Plan (AAP) for the York Central and British Sugar sites, to



Page 5

be known as the York Northwest Area Action Plan, and sought agreement
to a programme for the preparation of the AAP.

The AAP would form part of the Local Development Framework (LDF) and
the programme for its preparation, attached as Appendix 1 of the report,
would be included in the revised Local Development Scheme (LDS) to be
submitted to the Government Officer for Yorkshire and the Humber in
March 2007.

The report presented two options for consideration:

e Option 1 - To proceed with the timetable for the preparation of the AAP,
as outlined in Appendix 1 of the report;

e Option 2 - To prepare the AAP with an alternative timescale, whilst
ensuring all statutory requirements are met.

The report explained that the work in preparing for the Issues and Options
stage of the York Central AAP would be transferred into the preparation of
the York Northwest AAP. This included work on the document preparation,
the Consultation Strategy developed and the Scoping Report for the
Sustainability Appraisal. A summary of the consultation responses on the
Consultation Strategy was attached as Appendix 2 of the report. A copy of
the consultation report and the amended Community Consultation Strategy
were attached as Appendices 3 and 4.

Officers proposed that the programme, attached at Appendix 1, be
amended to extend the public participation on the Issues and Options
document, so that it took place from November 2007 to January 2008, to
allow additional time as it fell over the Christmas holiday period.

Members expressed concern regarding the length of time needed to
prepare and adopt the AAP and the risk that proposals may be put forward
by developers in advance of the adoption of the AAP.

Members proposed some minor amendments to the Community
Consultation Strategy, as set out below.

With regards to the Community Audit attached as Appendix 5, Councillor
Merrett advised that he had a number of detailed comments as Micklegate
Ward Councillor, which he would submit to officers outside of the meeting.

RECOMMENDED: That it be recommended to the Executive:

(i) That the programme for the preparation of the
Area Action Plan, attached as Appendix 1 of the
report and with the amendment that the public
participation on Issues and Options take place
from November 2007 to January 2008, and its
inclusion in the revised Local Development
Scheme be agreed;

(ii) That the Community Consultation Strategy
prepared for York Central, which will be taken
into account in undertaking the public



REASON: (i)

COUNCILLOR A REID
Chair

Page 6

consultation relating to the York Northwest Area
Action Plan, be noted, with the following
amendments:

a) To paragraph 4.3 to the part of the definition
of community relating to those who live
adjacent to the area, to make specific
reference to those who live on significantly
affected traffic routes;

b) To the first bullet point of paragraph 8.3 to
state that the public buildings where
documents would be made available should
include buildings local to the area.

To ensure the planning context for the area is
considered comprehensively and the
linkages/implications of both sites are jointly
planned for;

To ensure the public consultation is as inclusive
and comprehensive as possible.

The meeting started at 4.30 pm and finished at 6.00 pm.



Page 7 Agenda ltem 4

COUNCIL

a,

Local Development Framework Group 6" March 2007

Report of the Director of City Strategy

City of York Housing Land Availability Assessment — Consultation
on Proposed Methodology

Summary

1. The purpose of this report is to seek members views on the proposed
methodology for the City of York Housing Land Availability Assessment prior to
undertaking the study. This is part of a wider consultation with a range of key
stakeholders. All comments will be reported back to members in due course
along with the draft study for member consideration.

Background

2. A Housing Land Availability Assessment (HLAA) provides information on the
opportunities that exist to meet future housing need within an identified area.
The information from the HLAA will be used to inform the Core Strategy
Development Plan Document (DPD) and is a key element of the evidence
base. The Core Strategy will set out the key elements of the planning
framework for the City of York including the spatial vision for York and the
strategic policies required to deliver that vision.

3. A HLAA is not intended to do the job of a Development Plan Document (DPD).
Whilst it will identify land it will not make a judgement about whether a site is
developable or not. The role of the HLAA is to identify potential sites and their
constraints and for the plan making process, through the Allocations DPD, to
assess these constraints and make a judgement as to the extent to which they
are developable. Equally the assessment will not make any judgements about
whether a site offers the most sustainable site for development — again this is a
matter for the plan making process which will have to weigh the merits of
different sites according to economic, social and environmental costs and
benefits. The assessment simply forms part of the evidence base for the plan.

4. The Housing Land Availability Assessment was introduced in the draft
Planning Policy Statement 3 — Housing in December 2005'. This guidance
superseded the previous guidance — ‘Tapping the Potential’ on the production
of Urban Capacity studies®. The main change between the guidance is that

! Draft Planning Policy Statement 3, Annex B, December 2005, ODPM
% Tapping the Potential, December 2000, DETR



Page 8

previous urban capacity studies identified sites just within the main urban area
and the new guidance advises that smaller villages and rural areas are
included within the study to gain a better estimate of housing potential. The
guidance also considers that timescales should be applied to the potential sites
by the study so that the release of land can be managed more effectively.

5. The final Planning Policy Statement 3 (PPS3) was released in November
2006°. This statement sets out a new approach for planning for housing,
including the identification of sufficient land for the plan period of 15 years,
ensuring that the first five years are allocated and developable and that the five
year supply is maintained as sites are developed out. PPS3 requires sites for
potential allocation to be both developable and deliverable and advises that
this information should be drawn from the housing land availability
assessment.

6. PPSS3 states that the final guidance on producing housing land availability
assessments is currently being produced in association with the Local
Government Association and the Home Builders Federation and the aim is to
publish the guidance early in 2007. Advice sought from both the Department of
Communities and Local Government and the Government Officer for Yorkshire
and the Humber suggests that the final guidance will not differ greatly from the
draft guidance and that local authorities should base their studies as close as
possible to the draft guidance.

7. The Council produced an Urban Capacity Study in 2003. The study identified
future sites for development and assessed their best possible use by using
criteria based on the Tapping the Potential guidance. The 2003 Urban
Capacity Study fed into the site allocation process for the City of York draft
Development Control Local Plan (April 2005). It has been 4 years since much
of the work was undertaken for the previous study and new guidance has also
been produced. It is therefore considered necessary to carry out a new
comprehensive study rather than just an update to the previous study.

8. There are six key stages to the HLAA methodology, as set out in the draft
guidance:

e Establishing the process with partners;
e Identifying all the settlements where housing could be provided;

e Considering all potential sources of supply for new housing within
these settlements;

e To quantify the supply — i.e. how many houses can these sources of
supply potentially deliver;

e To determine the likely level of windfall; and

e Considering ‘developability’

® Planning Policy Statement 3 (PPS3) — Housing, November 2006, DCLG



Page 9

The draft methodology (Annex A to this report) sets out the proposed approach
to each of these stages for members comments.

Consultation

9.

10.

11.

12.

12.

The proposed methodology is being presented to members so that they may
make comments and to raise awareness of the study. It has also been sent to
key stakeholders in order to establish links with partners. The list of consultees
has been drawn from the Statement of Community Involvement. A full list of
consultees can be seen in annex 1 of the report. Consultees will be asked to
comment on the methodology, in particular the thresholds for identifying sites,
the proposed stages of the assessment, the windfall thresholds and discounts
and the constraints criteria. The report has also been placed on the City of
York Council website.

Following the production of the Housing Land Availability Assessment further
related consultation will be undertaken as part of the production of the
Allocations Development Plan Document. This consultation will involve a ‘call
for sites’ and will take place in November/December 2007. The results will
enable the Housing Land Availability Assessment to be updated. At this stage
we will contact a wide range of landowners and agents in order to help identify
sites that may become available for development up to 2029. This will assist us
in the identification of sites, as it will utilise the knowledge of the landowners
and agents on the availability of sites and any issues regarding their
development. New sites that are identified as part of this consultation will be
assessed using the same methodology as is proposed in this report.

Options
Subject to Members views and comments on the proposed methodology and
the results of the stakeholder consultation the Housing Land Availability

Assessment will be undertaken using the proposed methodology and a draft
report will be produced in Spring 2007 for member comment.

Analysis
It is important to establish a sound evidence base when establishing new
planning policies for City of York. It is equally important that the issues raised

and options as to how these key evidence base studies are completed should
be subject to consultation.

Corporate Priorities

The option set out above accords with the following Corporate Strategic
Priorities:

e Improve the quality and availability of decent homes people can afford

e Improve the way the council and its partners work together to deliver
better services for the people who live in York.



13.

14.

15.

Page 10

Implications

The following implications have been assessed:

. Financial None
« Human Resources (HR) None
« Equalities None
« Legal None
« Crime and Disorder None
« Information Technology (IT) None
« Property None
o Other None

Risk Management

The policies prepared by the Council as local planning authority should be
founded on a thorough understanding of the needs of the area and the
opportunities and constraints which operate within the area. The preparation of
the Strategic Housing Land Availability Assessment will provide an important
part of the overall evidence base. Its preparation will ensure that the
preparation of policies is not compromised by unrealistic expectations and
provide the basis for the Council’s consideration of future options. Failure to
provide such an evidence base would raise issues about the validity of the
Councils proposals.

Recommendations
That members:

I. Provide comments and views on the proposed methodology for the
Housing Land Availability Assessment prior to officers undertaking
the assessment.

II. That the views of members will be taken into account alongside
those from other key stakeholders in finalising the methodology for
the Housing Land Availability Assessment.

Reason

To ensure that the methodology used to undertake the assessment is
appropriate in relation to guidance and local circumstances.



Page 11

Contact Details
Author: Chief Officer Responsible for the report:

Rachel Macefield Bill Woolley

Principal Development Officer Director of City Strategy

City Development

01904 551356 Report Approved | . Date 26/2/07

Co-Author

Alison Cooke

Assistant Development Officer
City Development

01904 551467

Specialist Implications Officer(s) None

Wards Affected: List wards or tick box to indicate all All

For further information please contact the author of the report
Background Papers:

Planning Policy Statement 3 (PPS3) — Housing, November 2006, DCLG
Housing Land Availability Assessments: Identifying appropriate land for housing
development, Draft Practice Guidance, December 2005, ODPM

Annexes

Annex A: Strategic Housing Land Availability Assessment Methodology,
Consultation Draft, February 2007



Page 12

This page is intentionally left blank



ZS  ciTY oF

ccccccc

Strategic Housing Land
Availability Assessment
Methodology

Consultation Draft
February 2007

Evidence Base



Page 14

CONTENTS

1 INTRODUCTION AND THE ROLE OF THE HOUSING LAND AVAILABILITY

ASSESSMENT 2
2 METHODOLOGY 5
2.1 SUMMARY FLOW DIAGRAM ......ccuoiiiiiiiiiiiiirieeiieeieeeiteesireeseveeseveeseveeesvseeseseessseessnees 5
2.2 PHASING OF THE HOUSING LAND AVAILABILITY ASSESSMENT .....ccceeeeiiiiririreeeeeennns 6
2.3 ESTABLISHING THE PROCESS WITH PARTNERS ......cceoiiuiiiireeeeeeiiiireeeeeeeeeeinnrreeeeeeeeans 6
2.4 IDENTIFYING THE GEOGRAPHICAL AREA.......cuvtiiiiiieeiiiiiieeeeeeeeeciireeeeeeeeeeanrreeeeeeeenn 6
2.5 CONSIDERING THE SOURCES OF SUPPLY ....cuviiitiiiiiiieeereeereeeieeesereesereeessesesseesseennnes 8
2.6 HOW DO WE IDENTIFY OPPORTUNITES FOR EACH SOURCE? .........ccoovviiieiuvieeeereeeeenns 8
2.7 SITE IDENTIFICATION ....ccuviiiirieeereeeteeetteesireesereeseseeesseeessseessseesssessssessssessssssesssesnsnes 10
2.8 CARRYING OUT THE SURVEY ....coiuiiiiiiieiiieatieeiteeenireesseseereeeseeessseessseesssesssessssssenes 10
2.9 QUANTIFYING THE SUPPLY .....vuivvieeeeeeeeeeeeseeeeseeeseeeeseeeeseeeeseseeseseesseesseeseeeneses 11
Identified Sites: APPIYING CONSIFAINLS .............ccvevueeiieiiesiiesiesieeeese e 11
ConSidering VIADILILY..........ccveeeeiieiieiieeeeeeeeeeee ettt 13
2.10  ESTIMATING THE YIELD FROM SITE-SPECIFIC SOURCES .......cuvvvieeeeeeiiirrreeeeeeeeeennnns 13
2.11 DETERMINING THE LIKELY LEVEL OF WINDFALL .......cccccomtiiiiiiiereeeeeeiinneeeeeeeeeeennnns 15
2.12  IMPLICATIONS FOR THE LOCAL DEVELOPMENT FRAMEWORK AND MONITORING . 19
2.13  RESPONDING TO THIS CONSULTATION ......ccceeeurrreerrieeeenreeeennreeessneeessnseessssnseesnnnns 21
ANNEX 1: LIST OF CONSULTEES 22
ANNEX 2: CHARACTER ZONES IN THE HOUSING LAND AVAILABILITY
ASSESSMENT:HOW WE HAVE IDENTIFIED THE DIFFERENT ZONES.............. 23
City Centre CRATACIET AVEAS. .........cc.oeeueeeeeeiiieeieesiiesieesieestee ettt sseeneees 23
Urban Area CRATACIEY ATEAS ...........cccoeeueeeieeieiiee ettt 23



Page 15

1 INTRODUCTION AND THE ROLE OF THE HOUSING LAND
AVAILABILITY ASSESSMENT

1.1 The Housing Land Availability Assessment (HLAA) was introduced in draft
PPS3' in December 2005. At the same time, draft guidance? on the production
of HLAA’s was also published which builds upon the previous release of
“Tapping the Potential®” (2000). The main change to the process taken
between the two documents has been a new focus on a sub-regional approach
co-ordinated by the regional bodies. The other main change is that previous
urban capacity studies identified sites just within main urban areas and there is
now a recognition that smaller settlements could contribute to the overall
supply of land. The HLA assessment draft guidance (2005) therefore has been
revised to advise that all smaller and rural areas are included within the study
to gain a better estimate of housing potential. The revised draft guidance also
considers that timescales should now be applied to the sites that are identified
by the study so that the release of land can be managed more effectively

1.2 The South East England Regional Assembly enlisted Baker Associates to write
their regional guidance which was called “Assessing Urban Housing Potential —
A Good Practice Guide’. This guidance reworks the methodology of ‘Tapping
the Potential’ and splits the approach into logical steps for the identification,
planning and monitoring the potential for housing land. Whilst this document is
concerned primarily with the urban focus, it also offers good insight into
broadening the approach to include the whole area now required by the
government through redefining the boundaries and settlements used within
previous studies. The Yorkshire and Humber Assembly released guidance in
2002, which was appraised for progress by Baker Associates in 2004 and
concludes that a range of approaches can be taken so the guidance should be
used to inform judgements of how each authority tackles the study.

1.3 The HLAA provides information on the opportunities that exist to meet future
housing need within the identified area. The information from the HLAA will be
used to inform the Core Strategy Development Plan Document (DPD). The
Core Strategy will set out the key elements of the planning framework for City
of York including the spatial vision for the authority’s area and the strategic
policies required to deliver that vision.

1.4 A HLAA is not intended to do the job of a Development Plan Document. Whilst
it will identify land it will not make a judgement about whether a site is
developable or not. The role of the housing land availability assessment is to
identify potential sites and their constraints and for the plan making process to
assess these constraints and to make a judgement as to the extent to which
they are developable. Equally, the assessment will not make any judgements
about whether a site offers the most sustainable location for development —
again this is a matter for the plan making process which will have to weigh the
merits of different sites according to economic, social and environmental costs
and benefits. The HLAA simply forms part of the evidence base for the Plan.

! Draft Planning Policy Statement 3 Annex B (December 2005), ODPM

Housing Land Availability Assessments: Identifying appropriate land for housing
development — draft practice guidance (December 2005), ODPM
3 Tapping the Potential (December 2000), DETR



1.5

1.6

1.7

1.8

Page 16

City of York produced an ‘Urban Capacity Study’ in 2003. The study identified
future sites for development and assessed their best possible use by using
criteria based the applicable government guidance. The level of detail
produced in this report was hindered by time and resource constraints but the
report did produce useful sites for consideration in the Local Plan. It was
decided that sites identified through this process would have more detailed
analysis at the design stage if and when the sites came forward for
development. This 2003 Urban Capacity Study fed into the site allocation
process for the City of York Local Plan, of which nhow many sites have been
developed out. The Urban Capacity Study was based upon guidance contained
in tapping the potential. This guidance will be superseded once the HLAA
guidance is finalised.

The key aims of an HLAA are to:

e assess the level of unimplemented permissions and their likelihood of
being brought forward to completion in the plan period;

e assess land availability by identifying sites that have development
potential for housing and assess the level of potential;

e evaluate past trends in windfall sites* coming forward for development
and estimate the likely future implementation rate;

e assess developability by identifying constraints that may make the site
unavailable or unviable for development;

¢ identify sustainability issues and physical constraints that may make the
site unsuitable for development; and

e identify interventions that could be made to overcome constraints on
particular sites.

The new planning system introduced by the Government in 2004 requires all
authorities to replace their existing plans with LDFs over the next few years
whilst keeping any adopted or approved documents for interim planning
decisions. The requirement of City of York Council to put together the LDF
means that the council will produce a suite of documents that cover a range
of planning issues with a view that each document can be reviewed and
updated on a more frequent and flexible basis to reflect current trends and
emerging patterns. The LDF is based heavily on evidence and research,
which will be used to inform development plan documents and help make
robust policies brought forward through the LDF process as well as monitor
their progress in the future.

Planning Policy Statement 3 (PPS3)° sets out a new approach for planning
for housing, including the identification of sufficient land for the plan period of
15 years, ensuring that the first 5 years are allocated and developable and
that the 5-year supply is maintained as sites are developed out. The new
Planning Policy Statement 3 (housing) states that guidance on strategic
housing land availability assessments is being produced in association with
the Local Government Association and the Home Builders Federation and the

* Windfall sites ate those, which have not been specifically identified as available in the local
plan process. They compromise previously developed sites that have unexpectedly become
available. These could include, for example, large sites resulting from, for example, a factory
closure or small sites such as a residential conversion or a new flat over a shop.

® Planning Policy Statement 3 (PPS3): Housing, November 2006, Communities and Local
Government: London.



Page 17

aim is to publish the guidance early in 2007. Advice sought from both
Communities and Local Government and the Government Office for Yorkshire
and the Humber suggests that the published guidance will not differ greatly
from the consultation draft and that Local Authorities should base their studies
as close as possible to the draft guidance.

1.9 The HLA assessment is seen as a key study for the LDF evidence base as it
is the responsibility of this document to identify potential housing sites for
development. Primarily the study will be used to inform the City of York LDF
Allocations Development Plan Document® which will identify and allocate sites
for development to meet communities’ needs for homes, jobs and services
whilst protecting any valued environmental areas.

1.10 The emerging Regional Spatial Strategy has already acknowledged York’s
housing growth up until 2016 and included yearly targets for development.
Likewise the 2003 based population and household projections’ suggest that
York will need to accommodate a substantial growth in both population and
households for the projected future. The LDF will therefore be used as a key
mechanism for the delivery and distribution of homes across the authority,
which will be supported by this assessment of housing potential within the
authority.

1.11 It has been 4 years since much of the work was undertaken for the previous
study and the release of new guidance for undertaking the HLA assessment.
Changing expectations in the new guidance as to what should be included
have been taken into consideration by CYC and given that many of the
previously identified site allocations have been developed out, it has been
decided that a new comprehensive study be carried out for housing land
potential rather than an update to the previous study.

1.12 The particular methodical approach taken by City of York Council is based
upon:
1. The advice in the national and regional best practice documents;
2. The experience of other authorities;
3. The emerging Regional Spatial Strategy;
4. Time and resource availability constraints.

® To be published in Autumn 2007.
" Released in April 2006 by the Office of National Statistics.



Page 18

2 METHODOLOGY

21 Summary Flow Diagram

Define study settlements and boundaries

v

Identify Potentiél Housing Land

¥

v

Decide Yield Threshold / Site size

v

Identify Sites using
potential sources

Collate windfall data for
past 10 years (based on

b

Add sites into GIS and
database

}

Formulate constraints
criteria to assess sites

completions)

Identify unimplemented
and part implemented
planning permission

v

Categorise windfalls
into sizes (densities)
and types

b

Map completions on GIS
system

v

Identify Typical Urban Areas and Priority Areas

Using windfall densities, proposed settlements in RSS Settlement Study and

historical developm

ent maps to get identifiable character areas

b

Apply constraints criteria in
Primary, Secondary and

Tertiary stages

L

h 4

Apply yield (density)

thresholds identified in thresholds identified in
TUAs to constrained sites TUAs to windfall categories

identified to gain potent

Apply yield (density)

ial. to gain windfall potential

y

v

Apply timescales for development and implementation




2.2

2.2.1

222

23

2.3.1

23.2

24

241

242

243

Page 19

Phasing of the Housing Land Availability Assessment

The HLA assessment will take place in two phases. This document
represents the first phase whereby the Council will identify sites based upon
sources known to them within the urban area and the Local Service Centres®
and use these sources to estimate future potential capacity.

The second phase will be a call for sites, which will take place in conjunction
with the production of the allocations document for the LDF. New sites
brought forward as part of this process will be assessed by same
methodology as in phase 1 to inform the allocations process.

Establishing the process with partners

Local authorities are expected to establish links with partners (statutory
bodies, local organisations e.t.c) in order to agree the methodology of the
assessment. Consultees® will be asked to comment on the methodology, in
particular, the thresholds for identifying sites, the proposed stages of the
assessment, the windfall thresholds and discounts and the constraints
criteria. The consultation on this draft methodology is to allow partners to
raise any issues with the methodology proposed.

The proposal is to have a second round of consultation on a much wider
scale later on in 2007. This is will involve a call for sites which will take place
in conjunction with the production of the Allocations Development Plan
Document. At this stage we will contact a wide range of landowners and
agents in order to help identify sites that may become available for
development up to 2029. This will assist us in the identification of sites, as it
will utilize the knowledge of the landowners and agents on the availability of
sites and any issues regarding their development. New sites that are
identified as part of this consultation will be assessed using the same
methodology as in phase 1.

Identifying the geographical area

The Housing Land Availability Guidance (2005) has changed the scope of
assessments to cover all potential housing supply sources. This has also
changed the geographical scope of the document to include rural as well as
urban areas as potential sources of supply and has stated that ideally the
study should be undertaken at a sub-regional level.

Having taken these elements on board City of York Council contacted some
surrounding Local Authorities and found that the majority has already
undertaken housing supply assessments more recently than City of York and
used the results to feed in to the LDF documents. Also it has been considered
that the RSS covers housing potential and distribution effectively in the
emerging strategy with the recognition of the York sub-regional area having
it's own chapter and themes.

In light of the change in policy requirements and the need to undertake a HLA
assessment, City of York Council will be using it's own authority boundary to

® Local Service Centres as per the settlement study for the Draft Yorkshire and Humber
Regional Spatial Strategy, June 2004.
° Please see appendix for full list of consultees.



Page 20

define the study area. Figure 2.1 outlines the boundary and settlements that
will be included.

]

7 -'."-':'R'g..fudalac.':'. E:

. _‘..‘_:. “Hamll:;lgtn.;-{ _ el
Figure 2.1: e VO
Boundary of area

studied

- fEastRiding
& of Yorkshirs

2.4.4 Where the HLAA is undertaken for a local authority area it “should identify all
settlements where housing could be provided, not just the main urban areas.
The intention here is not to make a judgement about whether a place would
be appropriate for housing or not. This is the role of the plan making process
and Sustainability Appraisal. It is important to take a wide and objective look
at all potential sources of housing”

2.4.5 The areas that will be assessed in this HLAA is the main urban area of York
and the local service centres as identified in the settlement study undertaken
for the Draft Yorkshire and Humber Regional Spatial Strategy, June 2004.
These local service centres are Strensall and Towthorpe, Haxby and
Wigginton, Upper and Nether Poppleton, Bishopthorpe, Copmanthorpe and
Dunnington. Section 2.6 of this methodology gives further information about
how the different areas will be assessed.

2.4.6 Itis proposed that at this stage we will not assess the capacity for additional
development outside of the existing built up area of the city and local service
centres. This will be addressed after the completion of the HLAA if additional
capacity over and above that identified within the main urban area and local
service centres is required. This hierarchy for development is in line with the
emerging Regional Spatial Strategy for Yorkshire and the Humber. The
approach taken in the draft RSS regarding the location of development is that
in distributing land for development local planning authorities will concentrate
the majority of new development and redevelopment on the Regional and
Sub Regional Centres and allow limited development to take place in Local
service Centres with a focus on meeting local needs for affordable housing
and economic diversification.



2.5

2.5.1

252

Page 21

Considering the sources of supply

The next step in the assessment is to identify all potential sources of housing
supply within the areas of search. Both national and regional guidance list a
range of sources from which to use to identify sources of potential housing
land and recommends that as many sources are included as possible. The
guidance suggests twelve sources are surveyed for their potential (see figure
2.2). It should be noted that primarily the focus is upon developing previously
developed land (brownfield sites) in line with PPG3.

These sources of supply will not all be capable of inclusion in the site
allocations DPD. Some of these sources are better suited for identification as
broad areas for future development (in the core strategy) or to contribute to
determining a realistic windfall allowance. The output of the assessment will
provide the evidence base for the following elements of the housing policies:

e Allocation of first 5 years of supply in a site allocation development plan
document

e Allocation/broad identification of a further 10 years of supply for future
development

e Determination of a realistic windfall allowance, where appropriate.

Figure 2.2: Sources of supply recommended by HLA guidance (2005)

Previously developed vacant and derelict land and buildings
The subdivision of existing housing

Flats over shops

Empty homes

Intensification of existing areas

Redevelopment of existing housing

Previously developed vacant and derelict land and buildings (non housing)
Redevelopment of Car parks

Conversion of commercial buildings

Unimplemented/ Oustanding planning permissions

Review of exisiting housing allocations in plan

Review of ther existing allocations in plan

Land not previously developed including greenfield sites.

2.5.3 To keep in line with the guidance City of York Council will cover each of the

2.6

2.6.1

categories above except empty homes. It is the aim of this housing land
availability assessment to estimate the contribution of housing land which will
help to meet regionally derived housing targets. The Regional guide states
that including the empty homes source would result in double counting since
the requirement set out in the RSS is already discounted based on an
assumed reduction in empty homes.

How do we identify opportunites for each source?
In undertaking the survey work there is firstly an issue of what site threshold

to use. It is important that the threshold chosen does not rule out any
significant sources of supply and whilst the guidance does not offer



26.2

26.3

264

Page 22

suggested sites sizes, it does note that local flexibility of the size criterion is
necessary.

The previous urban capacity study uses a threshold of 0.2 hectares (ha) as a
threshold for site identification. The Development Control Local Plan has used
a threshold of 0.4 ha for allocating certain sites which corresponds to some
other Local Authorities HLA assessments. However, Bradford Council have
acknowledged that a threshold of 0.4 ha would result in a significant amount
of potential in their authority going unrecorded. This argument can also be
used for York where small sites can often offer large potential. The draft
HLAA guidance advises that authorities should be wary of setting too high a
site threshold as this may make it difficult to allocate land for the longer term
in the plan-making process. Suitable sites that are not allocated in the plan
may emerge as windfalls. However, smaller sites are also worth considering
for allocation because a range of small development sites provides greater
choice for home buyers and devlopers and also encourages competition
between developers building on different sites.

Taking these arguments into account, City of York Council are proposing to
use a site threshold of 0.2 hectares to identify sites. Sites below this threshold
will be identified using windfall completions (very small windfalls), which will
then be projected forward to obtain a gross potential yield.

To keep in line with guidance and other authorities work City of York Council
are proposing to cover each category in figure 2.2 in the following way:

Site Size Sources covered from figure 2.5
Threshold
1. Site identification and | 0.2 haand | ¢ Intensification of existing areas;
survey above e Redevelopment of existing housing;
¢ Redevelopment of car parks;
e Conversions of commercial buildings;
¢ Review of existing housing allocations;
e Review of other allocations in Plan
e Land not previously developed including
greenfield sites.
2. Windfalls (i): 1 ha and | e Subdivision of existing housing;
Very Small (0.2ha | below e Flats above shops;
and below)  Intensification of existing areas;
Small (0.2 -0.4 ha) o Redevelopment of existing housing;
Medium (0.4-1ha) e Redeviopment of car parks;
Changes of use e Conversions of commercial buildings.
Conversions
3. Windfalls (ii) Above 1| e Asabove
Large (1ha and above) ha
4. Unimplemented N/a ¢ Unimplemented/outstanding planning
Planning permissions applications

Each of these main categories have a different methodology which will be discussed
separately.




2.7

2.7.1

27.2

273

274

2.8

2.8.1

28.2

Page 23

Site Identification

A variety of sources have been used to compile a list of sites for surveying.
These sources are listed below:

1) Local Plan allocations: Identify outstanding sites allocated in the local plan
for housing. Sites allocated in the Local Plan for employment will also be
identified to determine if they would be more suitably reallocated for
residential or mixed use redevelopment;

2) Desk-based site identification: Maps to be analysed in built up areas at

1:2500 and other areas at 1:5000 using Maplnfo. All areas that appear to

have potential for development or that warrant further investigation to be

identified for survey,

The National Land Use Database (NLUD)

City of York Council Community Services

City of York Council Property Services

Alternative housing sites suggested at Local Plan Changes 3

New brownfield sites coming forward, e.g. Terrys Factory, British Sugar,

Nestle.

Sites suggested at the 2006 Housing Inquiries for Metcalfe Lane and

Germany Beck.

9) Employment Land Review

10) Sites identified internally by City Development Officers.

~NOo b~ w
~— N N

oo
~

As outlined in section 2.2 a call for potential housing sites will also take place
as part of Phase 2 of this document to be completed in Autumn 2007.

The sites identified for survey will be put on to our GIS software Maplinfo.
Each site will have basic information such as location, site size and grid co-
ordinates etc stored on a database and an associated site boundary
produced on the map layer.

A site visit will be made to all identified sites to assess their suitability for
housing development, taking account of the housing market, alternative
possible land uses, the chatacteristics of each site and the constraints to
development.

Carrying out the survey

This methodology proposes a comprehensive survey of the whole defined
area. This type of survey will provide a great deal of useful information to
inform both housing allocations in the Allocations DPD and for the wider
identification of areas for future development and the likely windfall arising.
This approach is also well suited to the ongoing monitoring of sites through
compiling a database of all potential sites that can then be tracked. This will
be well linked to the comprehensive housing and employment monitoring
systems that we already have in place.

The comprehensive survey will be a mapping and recording exercise of the
potential sources of housing supply. We are proposing to use a combination
of aerial photographs and map analysis to identify sites. Site visits will then
take place to look at the sites identified through the desk-top mapping
exercise along with the other sites identified from the sources listed above in
section 2.7.

10



29

Page 24

Quantifying the Supply

Identified Sites: Applying constraints

2.9.1

29.2

293

294

295

29.6

The next stage of the assessment (although in practice information will be
gathered simultaneously) is to consider and identify whether sites are
genuinely available for development and are realistically developable in the
short, medium or long term.

There may be good reasons why a proportion of the supply identified initially
will not come forward for development, or may not be capable of development
immediately. The survey will identify an ‘unconstrained’ supply figure. The
unconstrained housing supply is the theoretical total number of dwellings that
could be accommodated if all of the potential sources were developed
optimally. The assessment of constraints is inherently judgmental and
therefore it is important that this takes place after the unconstrained capacity
has been identified. If this is not done then it becomes difficult to keep track of
the assumptions made and to be able to explore different options in the plan
making process under which sources of supply may be realized more
effectively.

PPS3 requires sites for potential allocation to be both developable and
deliverable and advises that this information should be drawn from the HLAA.
To be considered developable a site should be in a suitable location for
housing development and available at the appropriate time. To be considered
deliverable a site should, at the point of adoption of the Local Development
Document, be:

o Available — the site is available now

o Suitable — the site offers a suitable location for development and would
contribute to the creation of sustainable, mixed communities

o Achievable — there is a reasonable prospect that housing will be
delivered on the site within five years

Whether a site is developable or not is a matter to be considered as part of
the plan making process through the Allocations DPD. The HLAA will identify
the potential sites and their constraints and then the LDF process through the
Allocations DPD will assess the constraints and make a judgment about the
extent to which they are developable.

The guidance advises that the following constraints or factors should be taken
into account for each site or source of potential housing supply. The
information gathered at this stage can then be used during the preparation of
the plan to determine which sites should be allocated in the first five years
and the likely timing of these and further sites coming forward. This will be
used to inform phasing and the rolling forward of the five year supply.

When identifying and considering issues it is important to distinguish
advantages and disadvantages of the site under consideration, whether the

' This included Copmanthorpe, Bishopthorpe, Nether/Upper Poppleton, Dunnington,
Strensall/Towthorpe and Haxby/Wigginton.

11



297

298

Page 25

issues are directly or indirectly related to the site and whether the issues are
short, medium or long term.

When considering availability the guidance suggests that issues such as
access, ground conditions, infrastructure, ownership and the existing land use
should be assessed. In terms of the suitability of the site the guidance
suggests that economic issues should be assessed, social issues such as
accessibility and the needs of the community and environmental issues such
as designations, air quality, pollution and flood risk should be assessed.

Taking the guidance into account we are proposing to use the constraints
framework outlined in table 2.1 to assess the identified sites. Proformas will
be completed for each site in conjunction with a specific site
boundary/location map and be assessed against each of the criteria. If sites
fails one of the primary constraints then the sites will not go forward to the
secondary stage as these issues are considered too important to overlook for
development. Those sites which fail to meet secondary constraints will be put
as lower priority than those sites which do meet the criteria. The tertiary
constraints are additional constraints to inform the process of selection at the
allocations stage of the LDF and will not determine if a site reaches the final
constrained potential in this assessment.

Table 2.1 — Constraints Framework

City Centre and other urban areas

Primary Constraints Secondary Constraints Tertiary Constraints
Designations: ) Flood risk assessed | ¢ Brownfield/Greenfield site
e Openspace using Strategic Flood | ¢ Archaeological sites
e National nature Risk Assessment e Air quality Management Zone
designations, Local e Existing land use
nature  designations, | e Accessibility to e Ownership issues
habitats of legally health, education, shops, | ¢ Contamination
protected species leisure and community e Local services available
e Conservation Area facilities (within 500- e Routes and physical
e Listed buildings 700m) connectivity
e Scheduled  Ancient A . e Views and visual connectivity
Monuments ¢ frequecr?teszb:i)cvter;spo it | Lgndscape qua!ity/condition
(up to every 15 minutes) * E':jghw"’?y capacny
within 500m . ucation capacity
Local Service Centres
Primary Constraints Secondary Constraints Tertiary Constraints
Designations: ) Flood risk assessed | ¢ Brownfield/Greenfield site
Designations: using Strategic Flood | ¢ Archaeological sites
* Openspace Risk Assessment e Air quality Management Zone
e National nature e Existing land use
designations, Local | e Accessibility to e Ownership
nature  designations, health, education, shops, | ¢ Contamination
habitats  of legally leisure and community e Local services available
protected species facilities (within 600- e Routes and physical
e Conservation Area 800m) connectivity
 Listed buildings e Views and visual connectivity
* Scheduled  Ancient | Access to frequent | , | angscape quality/condition
Monuments public transport (up to | | Highway capacit
every 30 minutes) within Y y
800m e Education capacity

12




Page 26

Considering Viability

299

2.9.10

2.9.11

210

2.10.1

2.10.2

There are a number of ways of assessing whether a development is viable.
The most common form of assessment involves a development appraisal
using the residual valuation method. This assumes that land values are
determined ‘residually’ in the market place by developers. When negotiating
with land owners, developers determine the price they are willing to pay for
land based on the residual value after subtracting the estimated total costs of
providing the intended development from its estimated revenues (i.e. the sale
of the development). The landowner is likely to sell land to a developer if the
residual value (i.e. the price the developer is willing to pay) of development is
greater than its existing or alternative use. Market viability can be affected by
a range of factors including national and local planning policy.

The options for assessing viability include:

e Categorising sites into levels of demand — sites attractive to the market,
those likely to come forward with a little help and those unlikely to be
developed in the longer term.

e Undertaking market analysis of case study areas comparing the cost of
development with the values of the completed units.

¢ Undertaking independent financial appraisal of key sites.

It is proposed that at this stage (stage 1) of the HLAA we will not be
considering the viability of identified sites. It is proposed that this assessment
will be carried out after the second stage of the assessment (i.e. the call for
sites) is complete. At this time we will also have the results of the Strategic
Housing Market Assessment for York which is currently being undertaken on
behalf of the council by Fordham Research. This report should be completed
in June 2007. The aim of the assessment is to provide the authority with
detailed information regarding how the market in York currently operates and
forecasts for the future, including the modelling and analysis of different
growth scenarios. The results of the assessment will help to set targets and
thresholds for both market and affordable housing.

Estimating the yield from site-specific sources

Having identified the opportunities for additional housing the next stage is to
assess the number of units that can be accommodated on each of the sites.
Two methods for exploring the level of supply a site might yield are density
multipliers or a design based approach:

1. density multipliers — using standard densities and multiplying them with
the area of each site to obtain yields;

2. design-based approaches — designing layouts on a varying sample of the
sites and applying the results to the remaining sites

There is the potential for a large number of sites to be identified in this study
and therefore a design-based approach is likely to be extremely resource

13



2.10.3

2104

2.10.5

2.10.6

Page 27

intensive. We are proposing to use a design multiplier method for quantifying
the supply based on an analysis of the city split up into typical urban areas.
This method will allow us to vary the net density depending on the size of the
site and the characteristics of the area, using a banding approach and to vary
the density ranges depending on the location of the site (city centre, other
urban area, local service centre).

Use of Typical Urban Areas

Typical Urban Area (TUA) studies involve dividing the urban area into
‘homogeneous character’ case study areas. These are determined on the
basis of land use, character, housing density and age. TUA residential types
are based on a combination of the age of the area, dwelling type, and density
with separate TUA’s identified for commercial and industrial areas, town
centres etc.

City of York Council has chosen to use this method for dividing up the local
authority, especially the urban area for analytical purposes. This technique is
well suited to identifying the scope for intensification, for understanding the
likely level of windfalls that will arise over the plan period and for looking at
appropriate densities for development.

For the Draft RSS a settlement study was carried out for the Yorkshire and
Humber Region, which identified York as a Sub-regional centre. Several of
the larger outlying villages'' were also named Local Services Centres due to
the facilities they had and the role they play as a settlement. We have used
this study to delineate the Local Authority of York into 2 subsections, each of
which are subdivided again in homogenous zones. The subsections derived
from the RSS are as follows:

e York Urban Area (sub-regional centre)
e Local Services Centres

In order to create the different character areas we have undertaken a desktop
exercise to identify the areas and followed this by a survey to confirm the right
locations of the boundaries. The sources used for the desktop exercise are:

- Historical map data relating to the sequential development of York;

- York Central Historic Core — Conservation Area Appraisal (Draft Report,
October 2005)

- Conservation Areas taken from the Development Control Local Plan (April
2005);

- Vector maps of York;

- Aerial Photography;

- Officer's knowledge of the City.

The identified zones and a brief explanation of each zone type are presented
in Appendix 2 of this report.

1"

This included Copmanthorpe, Bishopthorpe, Nether/Upper Poppleton, Dunnington,

Strensall/Towthorpe and Haxby/Wigginton.

14



210.7

2.10.8

2.10.9

2.1

2111

2112

211.3

2114

211.5

Page 28

For each of the typical urban area zones identified an analysis will be
undertaken of the last ten years worth of housing windfall completions across
the city. This includes all sites that have been granted planning permission for
residential development from 1% April 1996 to 31 March 2006 that were not
previously allocated.

This information will allow us to calculate an average housing density for each
zone based on the last ten years and also a density range based on the
average. This range will allow various yield options to be put forward for each
potential site to allow greater flexibility in looking at future policy approaches
to housing density.

The density analysis will also include different examples of densities achieved
across the city in order to better assess what different housing densities
actually look like on the ground.

Determining the likely level of windfall

Windfall sites are previously developed sites (brownfield) that have not been
specifically identified as available in the plan process. They could include, for
example, large sites such as might result from a factory closure or very small
changes to the built environment, such as a residential subdivision or a new
flat over a shop.

Although the contribution to housing supply from individual windfalls cannot
be quantified in advance (by definition), it is reasonable to expect that
windfalls in general will emerge over the course of the plan period.

PPS3 advises that local authorities should by drawing on information from the
Strategic Housing Land Availability Assessment and or other relevant
evidence; identify sufficient specific deliverable sites to deliver housing in the
first five years. To be considered deliverable, sites should, at the point of
adoption of the relevant Local Development Document (Allocations DPD) be
available, be suitable and be achievable. Local Authorities should also identify
a further supply of specific, developable sites for years 6-10 and, where
possible, for years 11-15, broad locations for future growth should be
indicated.

Once identified, the supply of land should be managed in a way that ensures
that a continuous five year supply of deliverable sites is maintained i.e. at
least enough sites to deliver the housing requirements over the next five
years of the housing trajectory.

In determining how much land is required, PPS3 advises that local planning
authorities should not include sites for which they have granted planning
permission unless they can demonstrate, based upon robust evidence, that
the sites are developable and are likely to contribute to housing delivery at the
point envisaged. As part of this study information will be collated to illustrate
what proportion of sites that have been granted planning permission for
housing have come forward and been completed within a five year timescale.
This will help to build up an evidence base of the likelihood of sites to come
forward within a specific time frame.

15



Page 29

2.11.6 The new PPS3 also advises that allowances for windfalls should not be
included in the first ten years of supply unless robust evidence of genuine
local circumstances that prevent specific sites being identified can be
provided. In these circumstances, an allowance can be included but should
be realistic having regard to the Housing Land Availability Assessment,
historic windfall delivery rates and expected future trends. The guidance
recognizes that in some cases local authorities will not be able to identify all
sites in advance and so will therefore need to make a realistic allowance for
windfall in their development plan documents.

2117

The guidance on completing Strategic Housing Land Availability Assessments

advises that allowances for windfalls should be made on the basis of
examining past trends in windfalls coming forward for development and on
the likely future implementation rate. What this means for Housing Land
Availability Assessments is quite straightforward — if a site is identifiable and it
is allocated in the site allocation development plan document, then it is not a
windfall. But if the assessment shows potential for sites within a particular
category to become available in the future, an informed estimate can then be
made as to the rate at which these sites are likely to appear.

211.8

The City of York has experienced consistently high, and often unanticipated,

levels of windfalls (residential subdivisions through to the redevelopment of
large commercial sites) over the past ten years. The actual number of windfall
completions over the last ten years has been a lot higher than that accounted
for in the Local Plan. Therefore as part of this Housing Land Availability
Assessment we are proposing to carry out a detailed analysis of past windfall
completions and to reassess the current methodology to take into account

more recent trends.

211.9

In the current draft Development Control Local Plan (April 2005) an allowance

for windfalls is made based on a ten year trend (1991-2001) projected forward
with discount rates applied. Table 2.2 shows the current windfall categories
used in the Draft Local Plan and the discount rates. The discount rates were
previously agreed between City of York Council and the Home Builders

Federation (HBF).

Table 2.2: City of York Housing Requirements1998-2011 (extracted from table 7.1 of the
City of York Development Control Local Plan, April 2005)

Windfall Type

Number of Dwellings based
on 10 year trend projected
forward over ten years
(2001-2011)

Number of Dwellings with
discounts applied

Small windfall sites (less 230 207 (10% discount)
than 0.4 ha)

Larger windfall sites (0.4- 420 294 (with 30% discount)
1ha)

Large sites (over 1ha) 1350 675 (with 50% discount)
Allowance for conversions 280 252 (with 10% discount)

2.11.10 For this Housing Land Availability Assessment an analysis of the past ten
years of housing windfall completions data will be completed (1996-2006).
This will include providing 10-year trend data for each of the proposed
windfall categories (see table 2.2), for each of the typical urban areas (please

16




Page 30

refer to section 2.10 for details). This will allow us to assess how many
windfalls have come forward in different areas of the city and of what size and
will give a more robust evidence base with which to make future assumptions
about the likely rate of future windfalls.

Table 2.3: Proposed new windfall categories for the Housing Land Availability
Assessment

Windfall Type Size Threshold

Very Small Windfall Sites under 0.2ha

Small Windfall Sites between 0.2 and 0.4ha
Medium Windfalls Sites between 0.4 and 1ha
Large Windfalls Sites over 1ha

Conversions N/A

Change of Use N/A

2.11.11 We are proposing in this study to make the windfall categories more detailed
to allow us to reflect the difference in rates of completion for each of the
different types of windfalls. We are proposing to include a new category of
very small windfalls for sites under 0.2ha, as these will not be picked up by
the assessment of sites (which only looks at sites over 0.2ha). A preliminary
analysis of the past ten years of completions data suggests that there have
been a significant number of completions under this size threshold and
therefore some allowance will need to be made.

2.11.12 Following the advice given in PPS3 we are proposing to only include an
allowance for very small windfalls (under 0.2ha), in the first five years of
supply, along with an allowance for conversions and changes of use. This is
to reflect the fact that this size of site will not be picked up during the
assessment and also the historical trend evidence, which shows that a
significant number of these sites have come forward in the past ten years and
that this is likely to continue.

2.11.13 The housing supply for years 1 to 5 will therefore consist of allocations (a
realistic assessment of how many dwellings will be achieved in years 1-5); an
allowance for existing planning permissions in the system at the time; an
allowance for conversions (based on 10 year trend); an allowance for
changes of use (based on 10 year trend) and an allowance for very small
windfalls (based on ten year trend).

2.11.14 The relatively high level of small site completion reflects that a large amount
of development comes from infill and intensification of existing built area. It is
likely that the recent higher completion levels are due to the effects of PPG3
encouraging developers to source sites from within urban areas, and the
result of such a concentration has unearthed many small sites. The
development of small sites at a high rate may continue for the foreseeable
future, but it is not an infinite resource and environmental capacity constraints
such as wanting to build at lower densities in the city centre and urban area in
order to protect the historic core of York may mean more opposition to this
type of high density development on very small sites. For this study it is
proposed to use an average of the last ten years for very small sites,
conversions and changes of use. However, this projected average yield will
need to be closely monitored to check its validity and trend in future
completions.

17



Page 31

2.11.15 As an element of double counting may occur between the very small sites
included within the existing planning permissions and the allowance made for
very small windfalls it is proposed that further analysis will be carried out as
part of this study. If this analysis shows that a significant proportion of the
very small windfall allowance will be already counted for in the existing
planning permissions then a higher discount will be applied to take account of
the potential for double counting.

2.11.16 We are proposing at this stage to include a non-implementation allowance of
5% to each category to make an allowance for planning permissions for
housing that are not implemented and for allocations that might not
materialize into completions in the plan period. Whilst there is no generally
agreed method for arriving at a non-implementation allowance figure it is
considered that it should be low.

2.11.17 One reason for this is that the purpose of Housing Land Availability
Assessments and a main aim of PPS3 is to maximize the use and yield of
urban land for the provision of housing, partly in order to minimize the release
of undeveloped land beyond the defined urban boundaries. Plan, Monitor and
Manage is an essential component of PPS3 and a necessary ingredient of
any Plan. It would be perverse to allocate sites only to artificially reduce their
yield when national guidance encourages their maximization. In addition,
there will be sources of housing that come forward in the plan period that
could not have been foreseen, which will have the effect of countering any
allocations which are not implemented.

2.11.18 The Housing Land Availability Assessment will be conducted on the basis
that sites will only be identified where there is confidence in the site yielding
residential units in the timeframe of the plan, recognizing that others which
cannot be identified at the present time and counted as numerical yield in the
assessment may come forward. The City of York authority area has a strong
housing market, and house builders are actively pursuing land acquisition
opportunities. It is likely that the majority of sites identified as sources in the
assessment will be attractive to the house building industry despite some
physical constraints such as ownership and access. The results of the
Housing Market Assessment which will feed into this study will give more
information of the current housing market in York and the demands for
particular types of housing.

2.11.19 In City of York data is also collected on the completions on small sites and
medium sites. These sites are defined as those on sites between 0.2 to 0.4ha
and 0.4 to 1ha respectively. Again as with small sites there is a great deal of
fluctuation in the completion data. Therefore an average over the past ten
years may be the most appropriate approach to take in including the likely
windfall from these sites based on past trends.

2.11.20 The identification of this type of site due to the larger site size will be easier
for the Housing Land Availability Assessment to identify during survey.
Therefore in order to avoid double-counting of sites, it is proposed to apply
the trend based averages for small and medium sites only after the first five
years. It is proposed that a trend based allowance should be included for
small sites and medium sites in year 6 onwards with a 10% discount applied
to account for a degree of uncertainty surrounding sites coming forward for
development and to reduce the risk of double counting as some of these sites

18



Page 32

will be identified through the assessment. This approach also follows
guidance given in PPS3 that advises that local authorities should not include
an allowance for windfalls in years one to five.

2.11.21 As far as large sites are concerned (sites over 1ha), the identified study sites
are intended to replace what was previously regarded as large site windfalls.
The development process will continually bring forward sites not able to be
considered now because they are in alternative uses, such as car parks, and
sites currently in employment use. These potential sources will have the
ability to add to housing potentail in the City of York area and the assessment
will need to consider whether to make an adjustment to the yield for large
sites. However, in making an additional allowance for large windfalls there is
the risk of double counting. It is likely that many of the sites that would have
been large windfalls will be identifed as opportunity sites in the assessment.
The aim of the assessment is to identify these sites rather than to include
them as a large site windfall allowance. However, if no allowance is made
then it is likely that this source of housing potential will be under estimated in
future years.

2.11.22 At this stage we are proposing to only include an allownace for large
windfalls from year 6 onwards and to discount by 50% to take account of the
fact that the majority of these sites should have been identified as part of the
assessment. It is recommened that the completion rate on these sites is
carefully monitored, and that if there is any firmly quantifiable evidence
showing completions coming forward on large sites then adjustment can be
made to the figures.

2.11.23 The strategic Housing Land Availability Assessment will need to be carried
out on a regular basis, at least every five years, so that adjustments can be
made based on newly identified sites and more recent trends in housing
completions. These completion rates will continue to be carefully monitored
and Plans need to be flexible enough to respond to these circumstances.

212 Implications for the Local Development Framework and
Monitoring

2.12.1 We are currently in the process of completing a new Local Development
Framework (LDF) for York. This early stage of the Plan review process is
therefore a highly opportune time at which to complete the Strategic Housing
Land Availability Assessment. PPS3 advises that such studies, along with a
Housing Market Assessment, should be undertaken to provide the necessary
evidence base to support the Development Plan Documents (DPD), in
particular the Allocations DPD.

2.12.3 Development plans are now expected to be more dynamic in their provision of
housing, replacing the setting of long term targets with the continuous
management of the provision according to the objectives set out in the plan
and informed by frequent monitoring of the provision taking place. The LDF
will need to demonstrate how it meets the ‘plan, monitor and manage’
approach.

19



2124

2125

212.6

2127

212.8

Page 33

The information that we decide to monitor in the future will be determined by
the requirements of the way that housing provision is to be made and
managed. If phasing policies are to be included in the plan, the
implementation of these will require that detailed information be collected on
the take-up of the categories of provision identified in the policies. Data will
continue to be collected on permissions and completions in order to be as
well informed as possible about the way in which different areas and different
possible sources are performing in terms of new housing being created. We
will continue to maintain records on the ‘take-up’ of sites, including the new
sites identified in the assessment, using our housing monitoring system and
GIS. This will be completed on an annual basis so that a close track can be
maintained on the assumptions underlying both the assessment and the
allocations arising from it.

Monitoring of housing land supply and implementation of policy is an essential
process. Its purpose is to ensure that housing requirements are being met in
line with the sequential approach, and if not, what action needs to be put in
place to rectify the situation. It is also essential to analyse past permissions
and resultant completions, without which it is impossible to predict with any
confidence the level of future ‘windfall’ development rates.

In the context of the assessment, monitoring will enable the tracking of the
development time period for each site. Each study site will need to be
monitored for the submission of applications, rather than just awaiting a
permission. In this way we will be in a better position to predict what is coming
through the system, and how close it is to the predicted position. We will need
to develop regular contact with the development industry to help inform
effective monitoring. This will enable a better understanding of variable
development rates on large allocations and how these can affect a continuous

supply.

Where it is evident that completions are not coming forward at a sufficient rate
to meet requirements, it will be necessary to address the reasons for this, and
if appropriate, adjust the Plan’s approach, including the phasing of sites. For
instance, if sites allocated in phase 1 have not come forward as anticipated it
may be necessary to immediately bring forward an alternative site from phase
2, and similarly towards the end of phase 2 going into phase 3, because of
the long lead in time for infrastructure and associated development covered
by legal agreement.

The monitoring process will also enable the tracking of new sites, which
would have been included in the HLAA if they had been available at the
survey time. Any large site or a combination of a number of sites coming
forward could be sufficient to require a review of the plan, or revisions made
to the phasing of sites.

20



Page 34

213 Responding to this consultation

In order for you comments to be registered you must include:
e your name
e your contact address
e your comments.

Where possible, please refer to paragraph numbers. Please also provide a
justification and evidence to support your comments where possible.

Please note that the closing date for this consultation is 9"" March 2007.
Any comments on the study methodology or enquiries should be addressed to:

Rachel Macefield

Principal Development Officer

City Development

City of York Council

9 St Leonards Place

York

YO1 7ET

Tel: 01904 551356

Email: rachel.macefield@york.gov.uk

This report can also be viewed on the City of York Council website at:
www.york.gov.uk/environment/planning/local _development framework/Idf evidence
base/hlaa

21



Page 35

ANNEX 1: LIST OF CONSULTEES

Statutory Consultees

Government Office for Yorkshire and Humber
North Yorkshire County Council
Natural England — NE Yorkshire Team
Environment Agency

Highways Agency

English Heritage

Home Builders Federation

York Property Forum

York Environment Forum

CABE

York Civic Trust

Conservation Area Advisory Panel
Housing Corporation

CPRE

Home Housing Association

York Housing Corporation

Joseph Rowntree Housing Trust
Yorkshire Housing

Tees Valley Housing Group

Internal Consultees

Housing
Property Services

Design, Conservation and Sustainable Development

Development Control
Transport Planning Unit
Community Services
Economic Development Unit
Inward Investment Board
Archeology

Environmental Protection Unit

22



Page 36

ANNEX 2: CHARACTER ZONES IN THE HOUSING LAND
AVAILABILITY ASSESSMENT:HOW WE HAVE IDENTIFIED THE
DIFFERENT ZONES

City Centre Character Areas.

The centre of York has been characterised according to the York Historic Core: Draft
Conservation Area Appraisal (October 2005).

The area within York’s ancient walls was designated as a conservation area in 1968
and extended in 1975 to include the bar walls themselves and the approaches and
surroundings which contain Georgian, Regency and Victorian buildings.

The purpose of the Conservation Area Appraisal is to describe, define and analyse the
special character and appearance of the conservation area and its immediate
surrounds as well as assess the area’s current condition.

For the Housing Land Availability Assessment we have used the area names and
boundaries as defined in the Conservation Area Appraisal as they each distinguish a
different character in the City Centre.

Urban Area Character Areas

In order to create the different character areas for the rest of the urban areas we have
undertaken a desktop exercise to identify the areas and followed this by a survey to
confirm the right locations of the boundaries. The sources used for the desktop
exercise are:

- Historical map data relating to the sequential development of York;

- Conservation Areas taken from the Development Control Local Plan (April
2005);

- Vector maps of York;

- Aerial Photography;

- Existing land use e.g. Educational establishments

- Officers knowledge of the City.

The 13 zones are characterised as below:

Zone 1: City Centre
See City Centre Character Areas as above

Zone 2: Terraced Housing

The main character of terraced housing is streets of adjacent properties, through
terraces or forecourted terraced properties, that have small front gardens and back
yards. The potential in these areas for further housing development is limited due to
the characteristics of the properties and therefore is represented in a separate zone.

Zone 3: Conservation Areas

York has 33 conservation areas in total (as outlined in Appendix B in the Draft Local
Plan (April 2005)), which are located in the main urban area and the villages
surrounding York. Due to a rich variety of townscapes which they cover, the
conservations areas have been categorised separately due to their individual

23



Page 37

character as we recognise that they will have different development potential to other
parts of the city.

Zone 4: Development pre 1960

Based upon historical data of the sequential development of the city and existing
vector maps, areas have been identified that were typically built up until approximately
the 1960s. This has been determined through road layout and via the type of housing
surveyed when the boundaries for each zone were checked. Officer knowledge has
also played a key part in identifying this zone.

Zone 5: Development between 1960s and 1980s

Based upon historical data of the sequential development of the city and existing
maps, areas have been identified that were typically built up between the 1960s and
1980s. This has been determined through road layout / design and via the type of
housing surveyed when the boundaries for each zone were checked. Officer
knowledge has also played a key part in identifying this zone.

Zone 6: City Centre Extension area

This zone has been proposed due to the nature of development that has occurred on
the eastern side of the City Centre along Lawrence Street and Heworth Green. The
development tends to be high density, flatted development in this area, which is in
keeping with the higher density ratios that are experienced in City Centre sites.

Zone 7: Post 1980s Development

Based upon historical data of the sequential development of the city and existing
vector, areas have been identified that were typically built up between post 1980. This
has been determined through road layout / design and via the type of housing
surveyed when the boundaries for each zone were checked. Officer knowledge has
also played a key part in identifying this zone.

Zone 8: Employment Areas

The employment areas are existing employment sites / industrial estates / business
parks located around the city. It is an important category to note as some employment
sites are developed for housing if they are no longer required for employment use.

Zone 9: Educational Establishments
This category includes all primary and secondary schools in the York area.

Zone 10: University of York

The University of York is a major educational establishment within the city. It is
categorised separately as it is envisaged that this land will not come forward for
development.

Zone 11: MOD Land

The MOD have barracks located along Fulford road and in Strensall. The Fulford road
site is a housing allocation in the Draft Local Plan (April 2005). Due to the specific
current use of this land the MOD land has a separate category.

Zone 12: Recreation and Leisure use

Some land in York is exclusively for recreation and leisure use, e.g parks. Where
these uses are located within the urban area we have included them within this
category.

Zone 13: Hospitals
This zone characterises the Hospitals in York as one category.

24



This document is printed on recycled paper
Copyright City of York Council 2007



Iaite)
;
2
=
]

e T s
RCSHENER STREES
4 X

i W)
N z
A Ny LAV E BT
5 X\

Clifton

5 Z| A
rol : RSy

" =T
3, WALPOLE ST It

CLOSE

4 s
ST N o
YT AL Footbal| #

::TA_Qg}t/re Ground,/ > § e

2

7
7 y
S <CROSVENDR Fong

%

()

& Sports

7 playi O
laying :
Ground 5

Fiaid

g

e

Gas
\Holder,

FABER STRERX,

Scarborough >

Bridge
; (N N i/
K ot NAANTC XN
¥ Tk l;ligg?or;al \ > E ' ot
Sy ilway. BER N
%’\@ Works N : . 4w ‘N("z;\gl ) a
= 3 . e g Sl G
Q’Qg\ “’é\\w/ 7 g ARt The—‘»“*“l”% L Offices \%'N}Z/@é\y\\‘ [V i
af # /Station & 5> & }‘i;%} A \ Al
i) A B B e SeONIa My X oy Y Iy L
") ~Environsg : Qa4 1/
§iee 80 ¥ oss Islands? b F
T S 3l Is|
- S B 2 S
gon:Repair - g 21
S % |
e m 2 REARN
23 AL e
o I ! ! o
NS it
8: Castle ;s - a 1
o o
Tel Ex ector; 52

%S

A RN

ANENE
Holgate LAY oul
Junction o

&

\\ 3m

)

ot

: 59
i
%7 I
A AR AT P o
25 2¢11: Blossom Street &
A \ ’
:South of the City Walls VR oo il
L o A e : ] L -
i > ] B A
SR : ! S Son i I pioes B
1 | 2
R ]
L/ X BLUE B . '::’r‘_.‘MELB(JURNE STREET ALNE_TERR ‘;
e = :
e VIRE b 4 & & # Bt el 5 |
& [ Ho STREF T i £ DGR & = At
5 SCancRor - @RS )\ | EARRLBOE 2 : <5
i) 5 ——y Ve NS i -i1) A
1 /~Carayvan3’ =l mileT Y-
T1oN 81 ANNETIN M. W/~Caray: =) =, 3 o 40
o CiAR 5T ~ L sita~/ (L2 SANDANCHAN. 2 R
fs o & N 2] b .
E 3 - wf YIE] i :t
7L ) ; 5 = 1) ANEW WALK TERR h\
E % Vel %) RS » Rowntree S| i
23 o CRY7S > B F o J
o% £ 24 m D 7m STRe f
S : " iR Bwl
AVE W £ - " BE] =
& i et T = = P ATy RANGE GARTH o
" e : 3 - oS ,
I x i o %— “CAUTALANDS RD i ‘:l i oy
B - ‘Allot Gdns : R A
csl FIREN R p TRARDSON S S 7,
N 0 . b T 08
CE - o £ e
~ 2 O 2 5 & JPARTOrT S1 A
N - =y 12 N = FET Ga|
0 D\ 2 : He STy /
= 7 o - Hs 2 g 2 A ARNDALE
5 ¢ BVANL RIS REERS =5 7 = i
S & 52y~ e O o, 3T Clin ]
Y %) @ K & Bty ENTSE]
2 ) _Ef /3 H L
Jo 3 6; gl ,("?" %:A = AIMA TERRAGE
@ el o ALD: ~
/ d . JEe & SSanE 3w =20
./ Q. o 3 ) ) : g 1} | _FBANCES STREET
Y %) Playing Fiel = 3 CAMFRDI,:" i R
7 S C‘_V“ o GR s 5
/ ) F 7 AMBROSE STREET
oL/ Outh S0EA \ 1gm 1 7 1 b

\<=8 cirv o SOURCE: York Central Historic Core

. N

Yo RLK An nex 2: Conservation Area Appraisal (Draft Report Oct 2005
S OR  covncin Map 1 - City Centre Character Zones City of York Council Licence Number LA09067L.2007




Page 40

This page is intentionally left blank



| 2 il il

N2

ORK

COoOUNCIL

Annex 2:
Map 2 - Character Zones in the Urban Area

Drawn By City Development. Crown Copyright. Licence No.LA09067L.2007

| abed



Annex 2
Map 2 = CharaCter Zones in the U rban Area Drawn By City Development. Crown Copyright. Licence No.LA09067L.2007

Y OF

YORK

\‘JZ‘;




Legend:

- Zone 1: City Centre

Zone 2: Terraced Housing

Zone 3: Conservation Areas

TR
sy .
AR Zone 4: Development Pre 1960s

s Zone 5: 1960s to 1980s Development

% Zone 6:City Centre Extension Zone

m Zone 7: Post 1980s Development

Zone 8: Employment Areas

Zone 9: Educational Establishments

] Zone 10: York University

R Zone 11: MOD Land

=1 Zone 12: Recreation & Leisure

3% Zone 13: Medical Establishments

\!% CITY OF
@ YORK Annex 2:
- 2 COUNCIL i
Map 2 - Character Zones in the Urban Area Drawn By City Development. Crown Copyright Licence No.LAOSOG7L 2007

¢y ebed




Page 44

This page is intentionally left blank



Legend:

D Local Service Centre Boundary

Educational Establishments

! \ACASTER MaLBIS CP”
1 Y

PLETON ROEBUCK CP

.

..'I

R B STILLINGFLEET CP

ZX  city oF

Annex 2: Map 3 - Local Service Centres
YORK P

Drawn By City Development.
couNciL BISHOPTHORPE Crown Copyright. Licence No.LA09067L.2007

w,




Legend:
D Local Service Centre

N Conservation Areas

o . .
atatatatets Educational Establishments

ﬂ . |

|
|BRYAN CPI)

|

1
1
7=,

|
| Copmanthorpa,

o oorr Annex 2: Map 3 - Local Service Centres
YQBLK COPMANTHORPE Drawn By City Development.

Crown Copyright. Licence No.LA09067L.2007




e — T

Legend:

D Local Service Centre

Educational Establishments

Conservation Areas

Eo

e S [
Manor|
Farm
Gr \
il Hill
Pm;ld.eﬂue Ll
arm
Huntar's 5 4 |
Lodges 2,
2
%
34m s
<O N

b \.,\:‘*
Dun:l:lmn % % );*’-‘(
Mill Field \\" o N, .

Thorntree Field

Dismant]
& \‘;;h Railway
'nuPnnilr:“,‘ \‘ \C'
hse iAo, Highthom P
" Tharmtree Hill

Thorntree 4,
Hill Farm

o Emta ¥ s

Mill Hitl o
“y Holtby el
Manor rs‘» /\f / : ¢ I
P . o > Dunningt@n
hn&: Stock Hil
=3

Manor Farm

New Fiald

7

CITY OF

YORK

COUNCIL

DUNNINGTON

Annex 2: Map 3c - Local Service Centres

Drawn By City Development.
Crown Copyright. Licence No.LA09067L.2007




T T ——

Legend:

D Local Service Centre Boundary

Educational Establishments

= &

SKELTON CP

2 *‘Y“o”li‘K Annex 2: Map 3d - Local Service Centres
Drawn By City Development.
couNciL HAXBY & WIGGINTON Crown Cop;}lvright.)/LicI;eynce\;\lo.LA09067L.2007




Legend:

D Local Service Centre Boundary

Educational Establishments

m Conservation Areas e/ 5 /| [«

.Q‘Yc‘owlik Annex 2: Map 3e - Local Service Centres
STRENSALL & TOWTHORPE ., capyign Uctnee o CaoeosL 2007




o= g T = —_—

Legend:

s 'I'f‘%"""
5 R -

x.\‘ {u‘ o

ey

/ OVERTOM CP

3 Sl
“\ SKELTONCP %,

&

_{ UPPER POPPLETON CP

= = =
L Sr—

JRUFFORTH 9_31\.

\;méﬁiﬁopﬁtﬁa P

pr

Annex 2: Map 3f - Local Service Centres

UPPER & NETHER POPPLETON Crown Copyright. Licence No.LA09067L.2007

Drawn By City Development.




Page 51 Agenda Item 5

COUNCIL

s,

Local Development Framework 6™ March 2007
Working Group

Report of the Director of City Strategy

City of York Local Development Framework:

Planning and Climate Change: City of York’s potential to deliver on
sub-regional renewable energy targets.

Summary

1. The purpose of this report is to introduce the draft supplement to Planning
Policy Statement 1 (PPS1) on Planning and Climate Change, and to inform
Members of the new key strategic issues which this document raises. It also
advises of the City of York’s potential to contribute to sub-regional renewable
energy targets through the planning system, in advance of consultation on
these matters as part of the Local Development Framework (LDF) process.

Background

2. The planning system is one of the most powerful tools for promoting
sustainable energy available to local authorities. It can be used to guide and
shape the location of sustainable energy development, promote the integration
of energy efficient and renewable energy technologies within buildings and
raise community involvement in, and awareness of, sustainable energy
developments.

3. Nationally, the Government’s Energy White Paper sets a strategy to move
towards a lower carbon economy by placing renewables, energy efficiency and
low carbon transport at the heart of the UK’s future energy system. This
includes a target to cut the UK's CO, emissions by 60% by 2050, and to
increase the proportion of electricity generation from renewables from a base
of 3% in 2003 to 10% in 2010 and 20% in 2020.

4. In terms of current national planning policy on renewables, Planning Policy
Statement 1: Delivering Sustainable Development (PPS1) states that
development plan policies should seek to promote and encourage, rather than
restrict, the use of renewable resources, and that regional planning authorities
and local authorities should promote resource and energy efficient buildings,
community heating schemes, the use of combined heat and power, small scale
renewable and low carbon energy schemes in developments.



Page 52

Planning Policy Statement 22 requires minimum targets for renewable energy
generation to be introduced in regional plans, to be monitored and increased if
and when they are met. In light of this, the draft Regional Spatial Strategy Dec
2005 (Draft RSS Dec 2005) has introduced policies on both Climate Change
and Energy. It is proposed that the renewable capacity established by draft
policy ENV5: Energy is delivered by Local Authority area, although the targets
are set at the sub-regional level. These targets are currently 209MW for North
Yorkshire to 2010, with an indicative 11.2MW from the City of York area.

Planning and Climate Change: new supplementary statement
to PPS 1.

‘Planning and Climate Change’ is a consultation document which sets out how
spatial planning, in providing for new homes, jobs and infrastructure needed by
communities, should help shape places with lower carbon emissions and
resilient to climate change now accepted as inevitable.

The Local Development Framework Core Strategy, and other Development
Plan Documents which follow, will use the guidance in PPS1 and other
PPGs/PPSs to develop its policy approach. The PPS forms part of a package
of action being taken forward by the Department of Communities & Local
Government (DCLG) to help deliver the Government’s ambition of achieving
zero carbon development, including the Code for Sustainable Homes.

In many ways, this Climate Change PPS supplement supports and reinforces
guidance which already exists at a national level, such as in Planning Policy
Guidance 13: Transport, where issues of public transport accessibility, nodes
and linkages are established. Regionally, the Regional Spatial Strategy (RSS)
will establish the framework within which the LDF will sit, and already delivers a
policy approach which seeks to reduce energy demand, improve energy
efficiency and increase installed renewable energy capacity. In terms of the
detailed design of buildings, many of the issues which the City of York’s draft
Sustainable Design and Construction Supplementary Planning Guidance
(SPG) highlights are reinforced by the draft PPS1 supplement. New
development will be expected to consider, for example, the impact of
orientation and massing; impact on natural species and biodiversity; drainage
and water recycling; sustainable waste management and solar gain.

In terms of the new key strategic issues which this Climate Change
supplement proposes, these are as follows:

e The approach to the Core Strategy and the allocation of sites should
consider how decentralised energy supply could contribute. This would
require Local Planning Authorities to assess the potential for their areas to
accommodate renewable and low-carbon technologies, including for
micro-renewables to be secured in new residential, commercial or
industrial development. In terms of allocating land for development, the
supplement proposes that priority be given to sites which perform well
against a series of criteria, including:



10.

11.

12.

Page 53

» the effect of development on biodiversity and the capacity for
adaptation;

= the contribution to be made from existing and new
opportunities for open space to urban cooling

= physical and environmental constraints on the development of
land such as flood risk and stability, taking a precautionary
approach to increases in risk that could arise as a result of
likely changes to climate;

e Consideration should be given to the allocation of sites for renewable and
low carbon energy sources and its supporting infrastructure;

e Ensure that a significant proportion of the energy supply of substantial
new development is gained on-site and renewably and/or from a
decentralised, renewable or low carbon energy supply. (The consultation
draft questions whether in the interim period, before the issue of what
‘significant proportion’ is tested through Development Plan Document
(DPD) preparation, a standard of 10% should be applied.)

e The requirement for RSS to establish carbon emission trajectories,
whereby the performance of buildings would be monitored over time,
including for the likely transport energy demands of the new development
and its spatial distribution.

Delivering Sustainable Energy in North Yorkshire

In light of the national and regional policy context, in 2005, a partnership of
North Yorkshire Local Authorities, including City of York, commissioned a
sub-regional renewable energy study, investigating the potential for the sub-
region to contribute to the Government’s UK climate change agenda.

This study found that the level of renewable energy generation within the sub-
region is currently very low, with less than 10MW of energy being generated
from renewable energy schemes across North Yorkshire. To meet the sub-
regional target will require a significant increase in the deployment of
renewable energy projects on the ground. The challenge is to find a means
of securing sustainable energy development, and its associated economic
environmental and social benefits, whilst ensuring that the local
environmental effects are minimised and that the unique heritage of the
county is protected, if not enhanced.

The development of renewables has the potential to deliver significant
benefits for North Yorkshire. As well as helping to combat climate change,
the benefits of sustainable energy developments within North Yorkshire could
include diversifying energy generation, creating employment and aiding rural
diversification and regeneration. We are also increasingly reliant on fossil
fuels delivered from politically unstable regions of the world. Developing
‘home grown’ energy could reduce the potential vulnerability from these
supply lines, and address the resulting issue of rapidly increasing fossil fuel
costs.



13.

14.

15.

16.

Page 54

The draft RSS sets North Yorkshire’s sub-regional target for installed
renewable energy capacity to 2010 at 209MW, and 350MW to 2021. The
North Yorkshire Sustainable Energy study has established that some
11.2MW could be provided by the City of York to 2010, and up to 31.2MW by
2021, from wind, biomass, hydro and photovoltaics. The focus was placed
on these technologies as it was felt they could make the most significant
contribution to the sub-regional target. Indicative potential for small scale
renewables, or micro-generation, could add another 11.69MW to the 2010
capacity, and more than 80MW by 2021.

Fig 1: North Yorkshire Renewable Energy potential

North City of York Micro-
Yorkshire indicative generation
target (MW) potential (MW) | (MW)

2010 209 11.22 11.69

2021 350 31.2 80.3

As the above table shows, there is potential for York to meet its indicative
target by promoting widespread micro-renewable schemes, rather than large
scale stand alone renewable generators. Whatever the chosen method of
provision, planning policy will be required to direct and influence the means by
which new buildings are built, used and powered. The scale and scope of the
requirement is an issue which will be considered through the LDF consultation
process, but as a minimum will have to meet the requirements of RSS policy.

Potential approaches to delivering renewable energy through
the LDF

Successfully introducing renewables to York will involve the development of
different kinds of schemes in different contexts. Whatever the preferred
technology and location, we have an important contribution to make towards
meeting at least the regional renewable energy approach and targets, both in
terms of developing renewable resources and in reducing the overall demand
for energy.

The following table shows a variety of means in which York could meet its
indicative renewable energy target, and the implication of each of those
means. Consultation on the LDF will consider such potential approaches, and
invite comment on the levels and means of providing energy from renewables
sources in domestic, commercial and other settings.



Page 55

Figure 2: Potential approaches to delivering City of York’s Renewable
Energy potential

Target | Scale of Local Authority | Commercial | Domestic scale
development | level scale
Technology | Medium | Small 50KW PV 1.5KW PV | 2.5KW
scale scale installation installation | turbine
turbines | turbines | (eg the (6-8m
11.2MW (70m (35m EcoDepot) tower)
to 2010 tower) | tower)
1.5-
2MW 0.6+MW
Annual 800- 400 16 tonnes 487.5kg 2,000kg
carbon 1000 tonnes
saving per tonnes
unit (1 tonne
=1000kg)
Approx
Potential N/a N/a £158,000 £4,000- £7000
cost to (inclusive of | 5000 (including
developer £113,000 (including government
grant) 50% grant)
government
grant)

Corporate Priorities

16.

Recognition of the role of renewables in addressing
support the following Corporate Priorities:

climate change would

Decrease the tonnage of biodegradable waste and recyclable products

going to landfill

Increase the use of public and other environmentally friendly modes of

transport

Improve the quality and availability of decent affordable homes in the city

Improve efficiency and reduce waste to free-up more resources

Implications

17.

Implications are as listed below:




18.

19.

Page 56

« Financial There are no Financial implications

« Human Resources (HR) There are no HR implications

« [Equalities There are no Equalities implications

« Legal There are no Legal implications

« Crime and Disorder There are no Crime and Disorder implications
« Information Technology (IT) There are no IT implications

« Property There are no Property implications

« Other There are no other known implications

Risk Management

If the requirements of PPS1 are not fully considered in preparing the Local
Development Framework, there is a risk that the document may not meet with
the tests of soundness.

Recommendations

Members are asked to

i) note the key strategic requirements of draft PPS1, as detailed in the above
report, and give support for the issues raised to be considered as part of
consultation on the Local Development Framework.

Reason

To ensure that full consideration is given to emerging national planning

guidance on climate change as part of the preparation of the Local
Development Framework.



Contact Details

Authors:

Gail Goodall

Assistant Development Officer
City Strategy

Tel: 551667

Kristina Peat
Sustainability Officer
City Strategy

Tel: 551666

Page 57

Chief Officer Responsible for the report:
Bill Woolley
Director of City Strategy

Report Approved v Date 26/2/07

Specialist Implications Officer(s)

None

Wards Affected: List wards or tick box to indicate all Al

For further information please contact the author of the report

Background Papers

‘Consultation Planning Policy Statement: Planning and Climate Change: supplement

to PPS1’, DCLG, December 2006

‘Delivering Sustainable Energy in North Yorkshire’, Land Use Consultants and
National Energy Foundation, October 2005.

Annexes None



Page 58

This page is intentionally left blank



	Agenda
	2 Minutes
	4 City of York Housing Land Availability Assessment - Consultation on Proposed Methodology
	Annex A
	Annex A - Ax2 Map 1
	Annex A - Ax2 Map 2
	Annex A - Ax2 Map 3

	5 City of York Local Development Framework: Planning and Climate Change: City of York's Potential to Deliver on Sub-Regional Renewable Energy Targets

